
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Thursday, 7 February 2019 at 7.30 pm when 
the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Gravesham Community Leisure Annual Update Presentation

6. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2018-19 (October - 
December) 

(Pages 9 - 22)

To present Members of the Community Services Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as set out 
within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Three 2018-19 
(October – December 2018).

7. Heritage Property Assets (Pages 23 - 30)

8. Cultural Development Fund (Pages 31 - 34)



9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

Members

Cllr Sandra Garside (Chair)
Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains
Rob Halpin
Jordan Meade
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Brian Sangha
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 26 November 2018                                   7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Sandra Garside (Chair)

Cllrs: Rob Halpin 
Gary Harding (Sub)   
Jordan Meade 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Brian Sangha 
Peter Scollard 

Simon Hookway 
Adrian Hickmott 
Kirsty Gaunt  

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Leisure & Resilience Manager 
Community Involvement Officer 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

48. Apologies 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Gurjit Bains and Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-
Chair). Cllr Gary Harding subbed for Cllr Gurjit Bains.  

49. Minutes 

Under officer attendance on Page 3 of the minutes, it was noted that there was a typo; it 
should be ‘Woodville’ instead of ‘Woodwille’. 

The minutes of the meeting on 27 September 2018 were signed by the Chair. 

50. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were disclosed. 

51. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – 
September 2018) 

Further to minute 46 (27/09/2018), Members were provided with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as set out within the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015- 
19, for Quarter Two 2018-19 (July – September 2018). Appendix two to the report provided 
Members with an overview of the council’s performance during that time period. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised the Committee that it was a standard report 
that is brought to the Committee every quarter to update them on the performance of the 
work carried out within the Portfolio. He gave a brief overview of the layout and what the 
performance measures and performance indicators were, advising the Committee that they 
would go through the report page by page. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community Services Cabinet Committee 26.11.2018

2

Deliver an improved leisure offer; activities and facilities that increase sporting participation 
rates and address local health inequalities

Following a question on why the Boditrax unit is free to use, the Leisure & Resilience 
Manager advised that the machines were brought in by GCLL approximately twelve months 
ago; originally they made the first time use of it free and then charged thereafter. However, it 
was not fully utilised by the public due to the charging aspect so it was made inclusive of the 
membership price. It is seen as an additional tool to help members for example to lose 
weight and achieve their goals. 

With regard to the large drop in numbers for PI 12 ‘Number of Active Gravesham Attendees’; 
there was a multitude of reasons such as, the loss of Danielle Lock to adoption leave right at 
a pivotal time in the year. She would help to organise and deliver many events and her 
leaving did impact the team’s performance and size of overall programme. Another reason 
was that many of the activities were run by partner agencies that didn’t hold as many 
sessions as originally intended. Due to those reasons the summer programme was 
condensed so that it could be delivered effectively however next year it should be able to be 
brought back to its full potential. 

Establish a programme of targeted community events and engagement opportunities to 
develop a more cohesive community

Praise was given to the Community Involvement Officer on the organisations of the 
Community Litter Picks in the Borough as it encouraged residents to take pride in their areas 
and added value to the Community. It was asked if the information could be fed out more 
often and bit earlier in the year to encourage more residents to hold schemes in their wards. 

The Community Involvement Officer advised that it was too cold and dark at the moment for 
many residents to take part in litter picks however the ‘Great British Clean’ occurs annually in 
March. Typically Spring time is the best time to start the litter picks and Gravesham would 
start to encourage Members and the public to hold them again during that time period. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the Alzheimer’s and Dementia 
Conference was held in conjunction with local Alzheimer’s and Dementia support groups and 
future plans would be steered by their new initiatives. The Assistant Director (Communities) 
agreed to ask the Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) if another conference 
was due to be held next year and circulate the answer to the Committee. 

Increased access to The Woodville for local community groups  

It was questioned by a Member if, following the success of Gifted Young Gravesham, any 
discussion had taken place to look into incorporating the group into the Woodville’s youth 
engagement plan to enable them to have a discount and greater access to the Woodville 
Halls itself.   

The Assistant Director (Communities) stated that he would take that question back to the 
Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) and update the Committee. 

A Young and Older Person's budget for supporting community groups 

Page 4



Community Services Cabinet Committee 26.11.2018

3

Members asked the Chair what the Council spent from the Young Persons Budget for 
2017/18 questioning how the resources are allocated and if a Councillor could request part 
of the funds for youth projects. 

The Chair explained to the Committee that the budget is an ongoing fund and some 
additional monies from that budget had been spent that aren’t currently listed in the report. 
The final report of the financial year 2017/18 will reflect all works that have been funded by 
the budget. With regard to allocation, all requests go through the Chair of the Committee and 
then are passed onto the relevant officers to undergo checks to see if it meets the criteria for 
approval. The high level of scrutiny given to the requests ensures that the money isn’t 
wasted and goes to charitable causes or worthy youth projects that benefit the Community. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) reported that, in the past, requests for funds have 
been granted in conjunction with match funding by other organisations. That has allowed for 
bigger projects to be approved in the Borough. A reminder can be sent out to Members to 
advise them how groups can request money from the budget through the Chair. 

Quality frontline services delivered on time and to the right people 

One of the Members of the Committee reported that he was constantly receiving phone 
calls, directed from the call centre, from the public looking to speak to people at Brookvale 
regarding rubbish collection or housing benefits. The Assistant Director (Communities) 
explained that the system may not be recognising the names of officers properly or there is a 
glitch with a similar number. The Leisure & Resilience Manager asked that the Councillor 
give them his personal mobile number after the meeting and they will check it with Customer 
Services to prevent any further misdirection of public calls. 

Another typo was noticed by a Member; page 21 ‘Customer Services update’, line 2, it 
should be ‘instant’ not ‘instance’. 

Concern was raised by a Member that the number of telephone calls was increasing and the 
number of self-service transactions was decreasing showing that the public wanted to 
actually talk to real officers rather than be redirected through automated systems. 
Gravesham mustn’t devolve to a faceless organisation that customers find hard to talk to 
officers and are constantly bounced from one caller to another without getting their questions 
answered. He found the report to be unsatisfactory in the explanations given over high 
phone usage and the way the public were being directed through to an automated system 
instead of officers. The point was raised that an item could potentially be brought to the 
Committee in the future about how the Council deals with customer engagement to produce 
maximum customer satisfaction. 

The comments were echoed around the Committee with a push for less self-help systems 
and more one to one interactions between officers and the public. 

The Chair advised that she would pass on the comments to the Service Manager (Customer 
& Theatre Services).  The Committee was happy to receive a written update in response to 
the question. 

52. Corporate Register of Partnerships 2018-19 

The Committee was informed of the Council’s involvement in partnerships that were within 
the remit of the Committee. 

Page 5



Community Services Cabinet Committee 26.11.2018

4

The Council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, other 
public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve both its objectives for the local community 
and contribute to the achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) stated that the current partnerships that directly relate 
to the work of the Community Services Committee were as follows:

 GO TRADE
 Gravesham Arts Council
 Gravesham Gateway
 Thames Defence Heritage

GO TRADE and Gravesham Gateway were marked as significant; the definition in the report 
said that a significant partnership was: a partnership for which there is a council resource 
provision of £10,000 or greater or one that is fundamental to the delivery of a strategic 
objective within the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.”

Concern was raised by a Member that the report was not a true reflection of the Council’s 
partnerships as he felt that the Committee had many more which were not listed such as 
Cohesion Plus and Elizabeth Huggins Charity.  It was felt that the definition of partnership 
should be amended so that more organisations were accepted as Partners within the 
portfolio in order to recognise the benefits that the organisations not listed bring to the 
Council in achieving their core objectives. Outside Bodies were also appointed to by 
Members at Annual Council so the Bodies within the portfolios remit should also be included 
such as the Regatta Committee.  

The Assistant Director (Communities) explained that there is a longer list of partnerships 
within the Register, however they are all split by Portfolio and there are a number which fall 
under the Leader’s Portfolio thus why they do not appear in this report, e.g. Cohesion Plus. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) did assure the Committee that a review on the 
Partnerships Register has begun and that he would pass on the Committee’s comments 
about Outside Bodies on which Members are representing the Council The Assistant 
Director (Communities) asked that Members email the team if they have any other 
organisations (that aren’t Outside Bodies) which they think should be included within the 
Partnership review. The Committee requested the item come back to the Committee before 
Purdah begins next year. 

Following on from those points, a Member requested that the organisations, as they are in 
receipt of public funds, attend the Committee every two years to discuss with the Committee 
their achievement’s, the work they have been doing and how they have benefited the wider 
Community. It would give them the opportunity to receive help from Councillors as well and 
advise the Council on what has been successful and what hasn’t been as successful. 

Concern was raised over the Gateway Strategic Partnership as KCC, in the near future, 
could possibly slash their funds and stop contributing to the partnership; Members stated 
that it delivered real value to the Council and provided a safe place for people to come with 
their inquiries and real issues such as domestic abuse and financial unrest. 

Page 6



Community Services Cabinet Committee 26.11.2018

5

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the same issue of risk to the partnership 
agreement was raised last year and KCC have not pulled out of the agreement, although he 
would ask the Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) to circulate a response to 
the Committee on the current status of the Partnership. 

53. Annual Report on Events, Summer Fun and Community Cohesion 
Events 

Members were provided with an overview of the events programme organised by the Leisure 
Team and Community Involvement Team in 2018 including major outdoor events, the
Summer Fun programme and the community events. 

The Committee was shown two brief videos created by Gravesham Borough Council 
showcasing the Remembrance Day service and the Riverside Festival in Gravesend. 

Members were very appreciative of the fact that the Council decided to cancel the fireworks 
in light of ‘Benny the Beluga’ residing in the River Thames where the barge would be 
located, however they did question whether or not another suitable venue could have been 
found. 

The Chair advised that she had a meeting with the Director (Communities) to discuss the 
possibility of a different venue. The Leisure & Resilience Manager further explained that the 
PLA (Port of London Authority) informed the Council two weeks before the event that they 
couldn’t give permission for the fireworks to be fired from the river due to ‘Benny’. They also 
advised against anywhere in near proximity to the river such as the promenade because the 
Council could be liable if anything was to happened to the whale. 

Cascades was originally used to host the fireworks many years ago, but due to the 
increasing amount of people that attend the display (between 12000-15000), the area is not 
suitable for the amount of traffic that would ensue. Additionally there were concerns over that 
amount of people trampling the football pitches and causing disturbances to the houses 
opposite Cascades. Gravesend Rugby Club and Gravesend Grammar School both 
potentially offered their respective fields but it was concluded that the same issues would 
apply there as with Cascades. The Leisure & Resilience Manager added that the public 
recognised the prom as the regular venue and the event would also require road closures, 
funfair placements and food vans, so anywhere but the promenade would be a logistically 
difficult   

Following a question, the Leisure & Resilience Manager explained that as far as he was 
aware the donation from Swale Heating to fund the Fireworks display had been designated 
for future use due to the cancellation. 

The Committee heaped praise upon the two videos shown, especially the very poignant 
Remembrance Day Service and wanted it noted that Members were very grateful for all the 
hard work officers had put in over the course of the year. The sheer amount of voluntary 
work that had been given to the events for the year was very commendable and the 
Committee recognised all of the effort that was put in to make Gravesham have the best 
event programme in Kent. One Member also praised the work that had been done to 
accommodate people of all disabilities at the events stating it was very good to hear all the 
positive feedback from disabled members of the public. The Committee asked that the two 
lead officers pass their thanks to the teams for a job well done and also suggested a reward 
be considered for the officers involved such as an extra days leave. 

Page 7



Community Services Cabinet Committee 26.11.2018

6

In response to a Members concern on lower attendance figures for sporting events as part of 
the Summer Fun programme, especially cricket, the Leisure & Resilience Manager 
explained that the majority of the sporting events/courses were carried out in partnership 
with local clubs. With regard to Cricket, August is possibly too late in the season to start 
playing as an introduction to cricket. Some of the clubs also may not have advertised as 
much as they had done previously. 
The Community Involvement Officer advised the Committee that the interfaith week did also 
invite secular/humanist groups to attend and a Gravesham Pagan Group did take part during 
the event. 

Following a short discussion on the possible invitation of the organisation ‘Porchlight’ to the 
next Committee meeting, the Assistant Director (Communities) advised that he would see if 
that organisation falls within the remit of the Committee. If they do not, then it may be 
appropriate to organise a briefing for all Members to attend on a separate date. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:45pm. 

Page 8



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October – December 2018)

Classification: Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community Services Committee 

Date: 7 February 2019

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway – Assistant Director (Communities)
Anita Tysoe – Service Manager (Customer and Theatre 
Services)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2018-19
(October – December 2018)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as set out within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-
19, for Quarter Three 2018-19 (October – December 2018). 

Recommendations:

This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2015 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2015-19. 
The plan sets out the council’s vision for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and policy commitments that will shape the council’s 
activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council needs to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a new Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
will form the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents.

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October – December 2018)

2. Performance Management Process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed decisions. The council’s PMF 
presents a range of performance information which includes;

 Performance Measures (PM):  These are target-based measures 
identified and established specifically for being essential to the delivery of 
the Corporate Plan’s key objectives e.g. waste recycling rates. 

 Performance Indicators (PI): These represent important contextual 
performance information related to the Corporate Plan’s key objectives. 
PI’s are not target based as the council, whilst having influence over their 
delivery, does not directly control their outcomes e.g. crime statistics.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members with an overview of the council’s 
performance against the Community Services portfolios for Quarter Three 2018-
19, covering the period October – December 2018.  

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular form for all 
indicators and graphically for PMs. Where any PMs have not met their set target 
for the quarter, exception notes have been provided for review. In addition, for PIs 
the tables provide ‘direction of travel’ arrows to give Members an indication of 
progress made against the previous reporting period and the respective arrows 
are explained in the key below;

2.4 It should be noted that Performance Indicator 5: Recorded reoffending rate is no 
longer reported to the committee. This is reflective of a change to the method of 
collecting the raw data that supports this indicator. 

2.5 It should also be noted that, following a request by the Corporate Management 
Team, there are no longer any ‘direction of travel’ arrows associated with PI 38: 
% staff turnover rate. It was concluded that the indicator did not lend itself to 
‘good’ or ‘bad’ performance and is in fact a simple dataset to complement the 
suite of related material. 

2.6 For future reference, equivalent performance reports will be presented to 
Members of the Committee on a quarterly basis.

2.7 This report is for information purposes only.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 10



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October – December 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.  

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives, and for 
residents it provides genuine accountability in how successfully the council is 
administering its resources.   

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Question

a.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have potential 
to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the  
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above.

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic vision and objectives for 
the authority over the 2015-19 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

All future committee reports will be presented in consideration of the council’s 
Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of new Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective 1: ‘a Safer Gravesham’.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to 'PI 49 - web self-help 
forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no implications in respect of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

It should be noted however, that the council's work in safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults helps contribute towards delivering corporate objective 1: ‘a Safer 
Gravesham’ and corporate objective 2: ‘a Stronger Gravesham’.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Plan 2015-19: Annual Performance Report (2016-17) Delivering for the Community 00
Delivering for the Community

Community Services 
Portfolio

Performance Report 
Q3 2018/19

P
age 13



Community Services Portfolio: Cllr. S Garside 

02 Stronger Gravesham 
"a healthier more cohesive community where children have 
the best start in life and people are proud to call home"

Policy Commitment 
1. Deliver an improved leisure offer; activities and facilities that increase sporting participation rates and 
    address local health inequalities.

Leisure Centres
Swimming attendance for Q3 period 2018 was 62,669 compared to the previous year of 64,064 – a small decline of 1,395. Total 
attendance over the 12-month period for swimming is actually up on 2017 by 3,303.
 
Gym attendance for Q3 period 2018 was 36,359 compared to the previous year of 34,283 – an increase of 2,076. Total attendance 
over the 12-month period for the gym is up on 2017 by 3,364.
 
Total attendance for Q3 period 2018 was 182,879 compared to the previous year of 184,999 – a small decline of 2,120, although 
total attendance over the 12-month period is actually up on 2017 by 17,402.
 
Other attendance information for the Q3 period includes:
 
• Health Suite increased by 1,228
 
• Sports Halls decreased by 167
 
• Squash Courts increased by 490 (mainly at Cygnet and due in part to the refurbishment of this area following the fire, as this was 
the last area programmed for works)
 
When considering membership to the leisure centres (over the 12-month period January to December 2018), health and fitness 
membership continues to grow by an additional 237 memberships – 114 of those are from the category’s of Student, Fit Kids and 
Teens. GCLL now has 117 Medical memberships (type 2 diabetes/ cardiac phase 4). Our medical team have had a huge range of 
success stories with a number of clients reducing their type 2 diabetic medication to zero. With a new partnership with the NHS eye 
and foot screening service being based at Cascades, this will increase the number of clients GCLL will be helping with its unique 
approach to health and wellbeing.
 
GCLL’s current approach to swimming programming and development is hugely successful with its Swim Academy currently having 
2,440 weekly swimming lessons, nearly 750 children on the School Swim Programme and 100 one-to-one weekly swim lessons. To 
further develop our swimming programmes, we are working closely in partnership with Swim England so as to maximise usage and 
financial performance.
 
Active Gravesham
Satellite Clubs – Through the County Sports Partnership, based at Kent Sport, there are currently 4 active Satellite club sessions in 
Gravesham; Powerwave which has 2 active sessions, rowing and boxing, all based at local secondary school sites – St Johns, St 
Georges and Northfleet School for Girls. There has been an increase of 56 new participants within the satellite club programme 
with a further two further Satellite clubs due to start in 2019 at Mayfield Grammar and Northfleet Technology College.
Sport England have also recently approved the County Sports Partnership’s funding application for Satellite investment up to April 
2021, so current Satellite clubs can continue to be supported with be view to them becoming financially self-sufficient in the future. 
There are also plans to develop more projects which engage less/fairly active females, those with disabilities and people from low-
socio economic backgrounds. 

Football - Around 440 players are currently accessing the council’s playing pitches across four sites managed by the Leisure Team 
on a weekly basis, which includes 21 adult football teams and 12 junior teams, with the majority of usage taking place on Saturdays 
and Sundays. There is also some additional adult and junior usage at Istead Rise Recreation Ground and Luddesdown Recreation 
Ground, which are managed locally by the community association and parish council respectively.

Page 14



PI 18

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 214,284 191,786 184,999 213,222 226,447 194,469 182,879

Direction 
of Travel

PI 19

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 81,015 73,173 64,064 74,299 83,526 74,173 62,669

Direction 
of Travel

PI 20

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 41,509 39,122 34,283 41,756 44,605 39,850 36,359

Direction 
of Travel

PI 21

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 160 9,006 465 80 167 5,557 496

Direction 
of Travel

Overall leisure centre attendance

Number of swimming facility uses

Number of gym facility uses

Number of 'Active Gravesham' attendees

Page 15



PI 22

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 2,008 5,400 2,260 9,778

Direction 
of Travel

N/A N/A

Number of visitors attending heritage sites

N/A 
Heritage sites closed 

October-March

N/A 
Heritage sites closed 

October-March

Policy Commitment 
2. Promote Gravesham's cultural and heritage offer, through initiatives such as helping to raise funds to bring
    back a museum in Gravesend.
Heritage Sites
Milton Chantry and New Tavern Fort closed at the end of September and will re-open in April 2019. The Cold War Bunker at 
Woodlands Park continued with its monthly tours through to December 2018. The 2019 season of tours commences on 
25.01.2019.

Leisure Team Related Activity 
October and November events were mainly focussed on the WW1 Centenary and Remembrance. The council, including the officers 
of the Leisure Team and Communities Directorate, provide support to a number of memorial services held during this time, 
primarily at Windmill Hill and Northfleet. These events are managed in conjunction with a range of organisations, including the 
main event partners, the Royal British Legion. Approximately just over 1,200 attended the annual service at Windmill and 500 at 
Northfleet. 

A commemorative event was held on the evening of 11.11.2018 on Community Square to mark the 100th Anniversary of the end of 
World War I. Approximately 300 people attended this service of reflection and remembrance, which included the lighting of a 
beacon on the roof of the Civic Centre. In addition to the 11.11.2018 events, the Leisure Team co-ordinated two days of services 
across nine of the borough Churches and Cemeteries to mark all of the Common Wealth War Graves, with the support of the 
Mayor of Gravesham. 

A responsive WW1 themed art project was also developed with two local artists and a number of community groups, with the 
exhibition running in the Blake gallery from 6 – 18.11.2018. As part of this project, a WW1 themed history day was arranged for 
03.11.2018 within the Borough Market, various re-enactors were present with talks and creative opportunities. The event was well 
received by around 350 visitors.

Page 16



PI 23

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 11 9 14 17 16 9 13

Direction 
of Travel

Policy Commitment 
3. Establish a programme of targeted community events and engagement opportunities to develop a more
    cohesive community.
• Black History Month Exhibition:  With the 70th anniversary of the arrival of the Windrush at Tilbury on 22 June, this year’s focus for the 
exhibition was the Caribbean community with a particular focus on the community here in Gravesham.  The exhibition featured stories from local 
members of the community and recreated a typical front room from the 1950’s/ 60’s.  A total of 74 children from two schools visited and 62 
adults completed the visitor book.  

• Windrush Celebration:  Working in partnership with Cohesion Plus and the North Kent Caribbean Network, an evening of drama, music, dance 
and food was held in the Woodville to mark Black History Month.  

• Wallis Park consultation and community activity: building on the information received at the July consultation event, a final event was held to 
explain the final proposals and a chance to discuss the project with Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and the landscape architects.  

• Christmas Film: In October, community groups, schools and independent businesses were invited to be part of our annual Christmas film.  This 
year five schools, five community organisations, one local charity and GBC staff participated in the film which has been viewed widely on social 
media. 

• Knitted Poppy Display:  crafters across the Borough were once again asked to provide knitted and crochet poppies to add to the poppy display.  
To mark the centenary of the end of WWI the poppy carpet formed the base of the display on community square between  24 October until the 
12 November. Over 13,000 knitted poppies have now been received over the past three years.

• Churches Together Flag Raising:  Gravesham Churches Together presented a flag to the Council in September to be raised on key Christian dates 
throughout the year.  The flag was raised for the first time on 1 November to mark All Saints Day.  

• Diwali:  Working in partnership with the Hindu Cultural Society and Cohesion Plus a celebration was held in the council chamber and on 
community square to mark Diwali.  Performances were led by young people and featured dancing and storytelling with an illuminated parade to 
the Mandir in Manor Road as the finale.  

• Inter-Faith Walk:  To mark inter-faith week 2019, Gravesham BC worked in partnership with North Kent Inter Faith Forum to deliver a faith walk 
through Gravesend.  Over 40 people participated in total with warm welcomes provided at Gravesend Mosque, Methodist Church, Mandir and 
Gurdwara.  A youth event was also held at the Grand organised by the H4U group where young people were able to meet with and ask questions 
of a range of faith representatives.

• Litter picks:  Community litter picks have taken place across the borough in October and November with litter picks in Shorne, Luddesdwon, 
Riverview Park, Coldharbour and St James Avenue.  We have also recruited a further three new volunteers. 

Events took place in the Town Centre and the Borough Market as part of Gravesham’s Christmas programme, as follows:
• 16.11.2018 – Christmas lights Switch-on, plus late-night at the Borough Market
• 18.11.2018 – Crafts for Christmas at the Borough Market
• 23/24/25.11.2018 – Christmas Market Weekend, including late night Christmas Market, ice rink and pop-up cinema.
• 02.12.2018 - Vintage Christmas by Forget-Me-Not Vintage in the Borough Market
• 08.12.2018 – Creative Christmas at Gravesend Borough Market
• 15.12.2018 – Nativity Live in the Town Centre led by Churches Together in Gravesham, culminating with carols in the driving rain at the 
Community Square Christmas tree. 
• 22/23.12.2018 - Music in the Town Centre
These were well attended, created activity in the Town and Market and were very well received.

Number of council activities and events delivered by or with the voluntary/community sector 

Page 17



PI 24

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 9 23 27 30 36 22 24

Direction 
of Travel

PI 25

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 1,221 1,065 1,116 1,398 1,354 1,491 1,653

Direction 
of Travel

4. Increased access to The Woodville for local community groups.

October to December was a busy season at The Woodville with a mix of community uses & events including :

Shakespeare Schools Festival ran both rehearsals and performances were run in the Main auditorium allowing schools from across 
the borough to perform on a big stage with full professional support from the team at The Woodville. 

Gifted Young Generation celebrated its 10th birthday with a fantastic concert of music and singing at The Woodville in November 
with guests from all over the borough and performances from performers of previous shows who have gone on to make an impact 
on the cultural community both locally and further afield. 

The Woodville also hosted exhibitions in the Blake Gallery celebrating Black History and the end of World War 1. 

The Woodville choir continued to go from strength to strength meeting every Monday night with a core membership of 50.  

In addition to the large one off events, The Woodville played host to several regular groups including 50+ forum, Memory Café, 
Gravesham History Class and the Disability group.

Number of community uses of the Woodville

Number of volunteer hours given to the Woodville

Policy Commitment 

5. A Young and Older Person's budget for supporting community groups.

Older Person’s Fund – During this period three grants were approved, £500 towards a Christmas lunch, entertainment and activities 
for Alzheimer & Dementia Support Services; £500 for Christmas lunch and activities for Age UK North West Kent and £355 for 
directional signs for Wombwell Park and Bowling Club. A grant of £650 has also been approved for the Veterans Club Windmill Hill 
for a fridge, cutlery, crockery, hot plates, tea urn, kettle and toaster (payment will be processed once a bank account has been 
opened).

Younger Person’s Fund – The following grants were approved: £960 for Christopher Centre for purchase of new door and two new 
cisterns for ladies toilets; £3k for Pelham Hostel for refurbishment works; £500 to support the Romani Slovak Czech Community 
Group St Nicholas Day event including goody bags for the children; £680 for Gads Hill School for climbing equipment. There has 
also been a request from Gravesend Cricket Club towards costs to replace outdoor nets, surface maintenance and other expenses 
to the value of £3,352 and discussions regarding this are continuing.

Policy Commitment 

Page 18



World Mental Health Day - 10.10.2018
A giant sunshine created by Animate Arts as part of the Bring Us Sunshine project warmed commuters at Ebbsfleet International Station 4-7pm on 
10.10.2018 for World Mental Health Day. 

Bring Us Sunshine is a community wellbeing project funded by Awards for All and Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) which has been ran in 
Swanscombe and Westcourt in Gravesend. The partnership project between the Gr@nd Healthy Living Centre, Dartford Healthy Living Centre and 
Animate Arts aims to bring communities together and get them talking through arts, music and food. Animate Arts have been running community 
workshops in each of our target areas and as a result a Giant Sunshine has been created. The Sunshine will be the focal point of events in 
Swanscombe and Westcourt and will also be displayed at Ebbsfleet Station to bring sunshine to commuters on World Mental Health Day. Young 
People from GYG performed at the event and raised just under £120.00 for the active listening service at the Gr@nd.

GYG 10th Anniversary - 09.10.2018
The 10th anniversary show at The Woodville took place on 09.11.2018 to a full theatre.  All proceeds from the show were used to fund the Active 
Listening Service at the Gr@nd.
https://www.thegrand.org.uk/young-people/need-support/active-listening/

Over 150 local young people were involved in organising and creating the event, catering, performing, stage make-up and hair, stage props, tech 
and photography.
https://www.instagram.com/p/BqIVFAhFGpq/

Aloud to laugh event  - 20.12.2018
Aloud to Laugh is a Youth led event, funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner and supported by The Gr@nd and KCC Early Help and 
Prevention. DJ Teeshow provided the music and 400 14-18 year olds danced and celebrated alongside youth workers and the police to ‘Say No to 
Crime’ at Blakes night club on 20.12.2018 @ 7-11pm.  The event is about bringing young people together in a safe environment and showing that 
Kent Police are working with the community. 

An outstanding group of young people called H4U which stands for Here 4 you who meet weekly at The Gr@nd organised the event.  This is a 
follow-on from the ‘Say no to Hate Crime event which the young people from Gravesend organised in July 2018.
https://www.thegrand.org.uk/hate-crime-2018/

Further Aloud to Laugh events are planned at Blakes in 2019 on 18.04.2019, 25.07.2019 and December 2019.

Feedback  from young people who attended: 
‘A great night showing unity and for young people to socialise in a safe environment’
‘diverse turnout‘
‘able to forget everyday pressures ‘
‘Food was excellent’
‘Having Police and other professionals was good as they mingled, were not in your face, and it did not feel threatened’

Any other areas of work (relevant to the objective)

Page 19



Actions for improvement

Economic Development (Charter Market) - Cllr. S Garside - Community Services Portfolio 

GO TRADE, the Interreg V! Channel Programme project associated with traditional markets and comprising partners from France 
and the UL continue to progress since funding was awarded in July 2017.  More funding can be directed towards the Market’s 
programme of themed markets and events.

Economic Development (Charter Market) - Cllr. S Garside - Community Services Portfolio 

During Q3 The Borough market attracted several new traders into permanent stalls -  Victoria’s Ever After, Kajau, Kent Flowers & 
Balloons; Bexley Kisses; Julie’s Hidden Wedding Gems and ZMetal.

During the same period, one of the food traders ceased trading in the market to take up permanent pitches in two of London’s 
trendy Street Food Markets in East London and on London’s Southbank to further promote his brand. Whilst this was a loss to the 
market, it was a success story in that the trader was able to prove his concept and hone his offer before expanding.  The vacant 
unit was re-let very quickly, but to a very new start-up business who sadly closed within weeks due to unviability of the business.

The three remaining operators wanted to trial an expansion of later opening on Friday & Saturday evenings which the market 
management supported for six weeks, to enable them to prove viability. A review has shown that there is a desire amongst some of 
the traders to continue this in the New Year with the additional market staffing costs being covered by them.

Expressions of interest for a new café operator was sought for the three café units and subsequently the “Cloud Café” (a subsidiary 
business of an existing food trader) was secured with full opening of the café planned for the New Year. 

The Borough Market was host to a number of events and activities in the run up to Christmas which saw an increase in footfall, 
translating into sales for the stall holders. 

GO TRADE funded training workshops for market traders and small businesses within the vicinity of the Market was delivered by 
The Retail Group with ‘Effective Presentation and Marketing’ sessions held on the 7/14.11.2018. Feedback from the training was 
positive with a number of traders implementing some of the ideas they had gleaned from the session. 

1. Complete the regeneration of the town Charter Market, progress the Heritage Quarter project and ensure 
    Gravesham's interests are fully represented in the Ebbsfleet Garden City and The London Resort projects.

03 Sustainable Gravesham 
"a thriving and sustainable local economy, built on the 
foundations of high quality regeneration and development 
projects"

Policy Commitment 

Page 20



Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 31,709 28,721 17,468 22,288 33,127 30,237 22,410

Direction 
of Travel

PI 47

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 1,628 1,500 1,185 791 988 736 724

Direction 
of Travel

04 Sound & Self-sufficient
Council

"a well-run and innovative council supporting its staff to 
realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible value for money" 

Customer Services continue to receive a high volume of contact through all three medias i.e. face to face, telephone and on-line. 
During this period the Contact Centre received 22,410 calls (an average of 175 calls per day). A high proportion of contacts relate to 
council tax and include queries on discounts/exemptions, reminders/Final Notice, checking balances, setting up Direct Debits and 
amending details.  Other calls related to housing allocations, parking and waste management as well as transferring calls to other 
departments such as repairs, housing and the payment line. 

During this period there were 9,453 face to face contacts compared to 11,471 in the same quarter last year. The number of 
customer assisted self-serve transactions fell slightly compared to last quarter. Self-serve transactions primarily refer to customers 
requiring assistance to make payments at the kiosk (elderly and vulnerable customers) or requiring support from the KCC Gateway 
Officer to complete Disability Permit applications. A number of self-serve computers are available in the Gateway and customers 
are generally self-sufficient following initial assistance.

Customer Services continue to look at ways of improving service delivery and will shortly be undertaking a satisfaction survey to 
understand why customers choose a particular means of contact and whether more assistance could be given to enable customers 
to eventually be more self-sufficient, enabling them to have the flexibility to access council services via the website 24/7. The 
survey will also enable the Council to re-evaluate the needs of different groups of customers and ensure that it is delivering the 
level of support required. 

Customer Services Update

1. Quality frontline services delivered on time and to the right people.

Policy Commitment 

Number of customer services assisted self-serve transactions

Customer Services Update

Completion of a customer survey to identify how customers prefer to contact the council. This information will be used to help re-
evaluate the needs of different groups of customers and ensure the Council is delivering the level of support required. 

Actions for Improvement

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 7 February 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Heritage Property Assets

Purpose and summary of report: 
To give an overview of the council’s heritage related property assets and the actions that are 
being taken to maintain and enhance them.

Recommendations:
1. That the council’s approach to strategy outlined in paragraph 1.4 be noted and 

commented upon.

1. Overview

1.1 The council owns and has the responsibility for managing and maintaining a 
number of heritage related properties which require ongoing works to their fabric.  
These are either listed buildings or scheduled ancient monuments and they vary 
from larger sites and premises to a number of statues and war memorials.

1.2 These assets are each unique and contribute to telling Gravesham’s story, 
however they can be challenging to manage and costly to maintain, especially in 
the current financial climate where resources are scarce.  The council also has a 
responsibility to set an example to other bodies and individuals who own heritage 
assets in the manner in which they are maintained.

1.3 Whilst these heritage assets are generally structurally sound, recent works have 
tended to be limited to those that have reacted to the symptoms rather than the 
causes of any problems with these structures.  Progress is now being made to put 
in place a medium to longer term strategy with the aim of reducing reactive repairs 
and maintenance.

1.4 The strategy encompasses the following:

1.4.1 A cyclical programme of condition surveys which can inform the council’s 
medium and longer-term capital programme.

1.4.2 Establishment of a programme of works to be funded from within the 
council’s medium to long-term financial plan.  This will create certainty for 
taking works forward to the next level of detail, preparation of tender 

Page 23 Agenda Item 7



2

documentation and scheduling of works.  This has been included in the 
2019/20 draft budget and approval will take place at Full Council on 26th 
February.

1.4.3 Approaches to various external funding agencies to discuss potential bids 
to help fund the capital programme.

1.4.4 Reviews of the use, management and interpretation of heritage assets, if 
appropriate, and in conjunction with the requirements of external funding 
bids. 

1.5 The progress that is being made with individual sites is summarised in Appendix 
2, together with a summary of their heritage significance.

2. External Funding Opportunities

2.1 The Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) is due to begin a new, five-year Strategic 
Funding Framework and as a result a number of their larger programmes are on 
hold until that is confirmed early in 2019.  It is understood that this will be a 
simpler and more flexible funding programme, with a single open programme for 
all types of heritage project, offering grants up to £5 million.

2.2 Competition for grants is expected to be high and there will be a new Expression 
of Interest stage for larger grants (> £250,000).

2.3 HLF strongly encourage applications for projects that will engage a wider range of 
people with heritage.  This presents opportunities to involve the local community 
in the preparation of bids, to enhance interpretation and visitor management and 
review the use and operation of an asset that is being put forward for funding.

2.4 Discussions are to be arranged with HLF as soon as the new Framework is known 
so that Gravesham’s priorities can be discussed.  HLF projects can take time to 
progress, with the process taking at least 18 months from application to approval 
of funding and this will influence the programming and timing of works.

2.5 Other funding programmes in respect of culture or coastal communities will also 
be explored, but these will have specific criteria not directly related to heritage, 
such as requirements to meet job and business outputs.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Background papers are identified in Appendix 2 to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 24



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal There are no direct legal implications arising save for the need to continue to 
regularly assess and maintain the properties, statutes, etc. to safeguard the health 
and safety of employees, tenants and the public using these sites.  Failure to do so 
could expose the council to financial (in terms of damages) and reputational risks.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

A co-ordinated programme of works to the council’s heritage assets will be funded 
from the asset enhancement reserve within the council’s medium to longer term 
capital programme.  Opportunities for external funding will be applied for wherever 
possible. 

This work is needed to ensure that the heritage assets are put into a good state of 
repair, which will strengthen the case for external funding and help to reduce the 
need and cost of reactive repairs and maintenance.  It will influence a review of the 
use, operation/management and visitor interpretation of these assets, leading to 
greater social and economic benefit to the Borough. 

Risk 
Assessment

Without a medium to longer term capital funding programme, the council may not 
be able to meet its responsibilities in respect of the care its heritage assets.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No      

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality?

No      

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

     

4.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Corporate Plan - Strategic Objective 2 – Stronger Gravesham “Promote 

Page 25



4

Business 
Plan

Gravesham’s cultural and heritage offer, through initiatives such as helping to raise 
funds to bring back a museum in Gravesend.”

Crime and 
Disorder

No direct implications, although it should be noted that a couple of the heritage 
sites, e.g. Gravesend Cemetery and New Tavern Fort, have places where drug 
taking and dealing take place.  Actions have been taken in conjunction with Kent 
Police to report, disrupt and address this activity.

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications at this stage.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

No direct implications.

Page 26



Appendix 2:  Heritage Property Assets within the ownership and responsibility of Gravesham Borough Council (February 
2019)

Property Significance: Key Actions:

New Tavern Fort, Commercial Place, 
Gravesend: 18th century fort, 
remodelled in 1868-72 by the then 
Colonel Gordon.  Part of a network of 
river defences to protect London.  
Structures include a series of below 
ground magazines.

Operated on behalf of the council by 
Thames Defence Heritage.

New Tavern Fort is Grade II* listed 
building and a Scheduled 
Monument and is therefore of 
national significance and of 
exceptional significance based on 
its evidential and historic values.  
The surrounding gardens are of 
considerable heritage significance 
and of regional importance.

 A condition survey was undertaken in 2016 (Carden & 
Godfrey Architects, October 2016) and a Conservation 
Management Plan has been prepared (Wessex 
Archaeology, May 2016).  These were funded with the help 
of the Coastal Revival Fund.

 Priority I items from the condition survey (and other items 
identified more recently) are being undertaken and 
managed from within repair and maintenance budgets.  
Discussions have taken place with Historic England to 
address remaining issues.

 Outstanding issues:
o Additional expertise is required to investigate 

improvement to the ventilation of the tunnels.  
Advice from English Heritage is being sought.

o Guidelines to be prepared for future maintenance by 
operational volunteers.

 Discussion to be held with HLF in respect of funding for 
completion of priority II, III, IV and possibly V items.  
Approximately £500k.  This will require a strategy for future 
interpretation and management of the Fort informed by the 
Conservation Management Plan.

Milton Chantry, Commercial Place, 
Gravesend

Operated on behalf of the council by 
Thames Defence Heritage

English Heritage has guardianship 
responsibilities for Milton Chantry, 

Milton Chantry within the site is a 
Grade II* listed building and 
therefore of exceptional heritage 
significance.

 Annual meeting has been held with English Heritage in 
respect of guardianship of the property and identified a 
number of actions in terms of maintenance and promotion 
of the building.

P
age 27



Property Significance: Key Actions:

ensuring that the building is rain, wind 
and watertight.
Gravesend Blockhouse, Royal Pier 
Road, Gravesend:  One of 5 
blockhouses built by Henry VIII on the 
Thames Estuary in 1539/1540 to 
defend London.

Scheduled Ancient Monument  Gravesend Blockhouse Condition Survey undertaken (Allan 
Cox, June 2016). This was funded with the help of the 
Coastal Revival Fund.

 Re-establishment of maintenance regime and proposals for 
conservation and consolidation as identified within the 
report for the brickwork, stonework, ironwork, landscaping, 
retaining walls, perimeter fence, interpretation and 
maintenance.

St Andrew’s Arts Centre, Royal Pier 
Road, Gravesend – late 19th century 
waterside mission chapel.

The property is leased by the Council 
to Gravesham Arts Council.

St Andrew’s is a Grade II listed 
building

 A detailed investigation was carried out to the north-western 
corner of the river wall as issues had arisen from erosion 
and inappropriate works undertaken in the past.  This 
investigation established the cause of the issues and the 
extent and method of repairs required (including a 
cofferdam to enable works to take place within the tidal 
river).

 Interim works were undertaken to repair the river wall.  Pre-
tender documentation prepared.  Coastal Revival Funding 
contributing funding towards preparation.

 Visual inspection survey undertaken by Carden & Godfrey 
Architects (July 2018) of accessible external and internal 
areas.  Key repairs required relate to repairs and repointing 
to various parts of the walls, parapets and stone 
replacements.

 Pre-tender estimate for repairs to the river wall of £225,000.
 Indicative costs of works to the building of c.£100k.  Some 

aspects of the internal redecoration are the responsibility of 
Gravesham Arts under their lease (currently held over).

Gravesend Cemetery, Old Road 
West, Gravesend
Formerly the Victoria Gardens and then 
burial ground from the mid-1830s.

Grade II* Park & Garden.

Cemetery Gate and Lodges- Grade 
II Listed

 Visual inspections undertaken of the exterior and interior of 
the Gravesend Cemetery Chapel and Lodge by Carden & 
Godfrey Architects (July 2018).  Indicative costs of repair – 

P
age 28



Property Significance: Key Actions:

Mortuary Chapel – Grade II Listed.
Lodge £200,000 and Chapel £360,000.  Boundary wall – 
indicative cost of £100k.

 Discussions taking place with GBC Operational Services in 
respect of medium to longer term uses for the parts of the 
buildings.

 Tender documentation to be prepared for the works.
 Preparation of a Conservation Management Plan for 

Gravesend Cemetery to set out its significances in greater 
detail and to advise on future management and 
maintenance.

Rosherville Tunnels and Stairs to 
former Rosherville Gardens, Crete 
Hall Road, Northfleet 

Below ground Second World War state 
of the art civil defence tunnels made 
use of in support of the riverside 
munitions and engineering industries.

Stairs Grade II Listed.  The tunnels are currently sealed, but ongoing attention and 
occasional inappropriate access.

 Regular inspections undertaken of cliff face and access 
points. Ongoing works to keep the tunnels secure.

 Ongoing consideration of future use in the context of 
redevelopment of riverside sites in conjunction with 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and developer 
Keepmoat.

Civil Defence Command Centre 
(Woodlands Cold War Bunker), 
Wrotham Road, Gravesend

Operated on behalf of the council by 
Thames Defence Heritage

Grade II Listed Building  Works undertaken in recent years following major water 
ingress in 2014.  No further action at this point in time.

Town Pier, Town Pier Square, 
Gravesend

Grade II* Listed Building  Liabilities fall for repairs, maintenance and decoration fall 
on the tenant.

Larkin Memorial, Telegraph Hill, 
Hermitage Road, Higham

Grade II Listed obelisk 
commemorating the work of 
parliamentary reformer Charles 
Larkin (1775-1833).  Completed in 
1835, the monument is an early 

 The monument has deteriorated over time and a recent 
survey advised of works necessary to prevent further 
deterioration.

 The restoration of the Larkin Memorial and the surrounding 
area on Telegraph Hill was included as one item in a larger 

P
age 29



Property Significance: Key Actions:

example of the use of concrete in 
lieu of stone.  

bid to HLF bid for a Landscape Partnership grant, led by 
RSPB, but this has recently been turned down.

 Alternative approaches to fund repair are now being 
considered.

Gravesend Clock Tower, Milton 
Road, Gravesend 

Grade II Listed Building  Recently restored with the assistance of Heritage Lottery 
Funding.

Statue of General Gordon, Gordon 
Pleasure Grounds, Gravesend

Grade II Listed Building  No works required at this stage.

Obelisk, Gordon Pleasure Grounds, 
Gravesend 

Grade II Listed Building  No works required at this stage.

Statue of Princess Pocahontas in St 
George’s Churchyard, Princes 
Street, Gravesend

Grade II Listed Building  No works required at this stage.

Statue of Queen Victoria in 
Gravesend Borough Market 

Grade II Listed Building  Recently cleaned and restored with the assistance of HLF 
funding

War Memorial, Northfleet Veterans’ 
Club, The Hill, Northfleet 

 Recently cleaned/restored.   No further action at this point 
in time.

War Memorial, Within Windmill 
Gardens, Clarence Place, Gravesend

Grade II Listed  Recently cleaned/restored.   No further action at this point 
in time.

War Memorial, St Peter’s and St 
Paul’s C of E Churchyard

Grade II Listed memorial within a 
closed churchyard.

 Works required to churchyard wall.  To be funded from 
closed churchyard budgets. Approximately, £100,000.

Note:  The statues of HM Queen Elizabeth II and Squadron Leader Mahinder Singh Pujji are not listed structures and therefore not included in 
this report.

P
age 30



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 7 February 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Cultural Development Fund – Thames Estuary Production 
Corridor (TEPC) Funding

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report the successful bid for Cultural Development Funding to deliver the ambition of the 
Thames Estuary Production Corridor.

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the contents of this report and comments on the opportunities 

this gives to develop the cultural sector in Gravesham.

1. Cultural Development Fund

1.1 £4.3 million funding has been awarded from the Cultural Development Fund 
towards the delivery of the Thames Estuary Production Corridor with total project 
value of £6.7m.

1.2 The Thames Estuary Production Corridor (TEPC) partnership is a consortium 
involving the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP), Kent and Essex 
County Councils, 11 local authority areas represented by Thames Gateway Kent 
Partnership and Opportunity South Essex, South East Creative Economy Network 
(SECEN), the Greater London Authority, Royal Docks and 7 East London 
boroughs, working in partnership with higher and further education institutions and 
cultural organisations.  The Cultural Development Fund bid specifically brings the 
University of Kent, University of Essex, and cultural organisations Metal and 
Whitstable Biennale into the partnership.

1.3 The University of Kent will take a lead on this Fund and will receive £4.3m to work 
with partners in Essex and Kent to develop the Thames Estuary Production 
Corridor as Europe’s largest creative corridor – “a world leader for the creative 
and cultural industries”.

1.4 Through a programme of activity that develops critical cultural infrastructure, 
research and development and innovation, training and capacity building for local 
businesses and commissions of new cultural product, the project will develop the 
Thames Estuary’s identity and productivity as a creative cluster connected to 
London, UK and global markets.

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



2

1.5 The Thames Estuary Production Corridor report identifies that there is significant 
potential for growth: 45000 creative industry Estuary residents work elsewhere. In 
some areas, over 17,000 of the Estuary’s creative and cultural workforce are 
exported each day. There are circa 4,000 broad creative and cultural supply chain 
companies (fabrication, post production, carpentry) which now employ an 
estimated 31,000, supporting delivery of content in London, UK and globally. In 
the last five years freelance creative and cultural activity has grown by 20%.

1.6 The Cultural Development Fund will help deliver specific projects, as follows: 

 Estuary 2020: expansion of this month-long international arts festival to 
include new commissions in locations and communities across the 
Thames Estuary

 Corridor Commissions: focused on digital innovation, bringing together 
internationally renowned and creative technologists to ‘waymark’ visitors 
along the Thames

 Re:Generation 2030: Creative Apprenticeship scheme, creating job 
opportunities for 60 young people from the Estuary’s disadvantaged areas 
to work

 Estuary Works: New creative workspaces for creative and digital 
businesses in creative clusters like Margate, Southend and Chatham 
Dockyard.

 Estuary Producers: Producer ‘residencies’ in locations across the Estuary, 
creating new cultural experiences in high streets and parks, on watersides 
and other venues

 Creative Labs: bringing together creatives, technologists and academics to 
explore how culture can address key issues such as mental health, ageing 
and town planning

2. Opportunities for Gravesham

2.1 Gravesham is at the heart of the Thames Estuary Production Corridor and 
benefits from good connectivity to London, Kent and continental Europe.  It is also 
at a key and strengthening axis between the north and south of the Estuary and 
the Gateway to the Port of London.

2.2 Further discussions will take place in respect of the detail of delivery, but it would 
appear that opportunities will exist for Gravesham to benefit from this funding in 
relation to the following:

 Estuary 2020 – Gravesham participated in Estuary 2016, which was led by 
Metal in association with other partners including Whitstable Biennale, and 
with the participation of LV21 on this side of the water and a concentration 
of activity and installations at the Tilbury Cruise Terminal.  It is likely that 
Gravesham will be able to develop its role for 2020 and strengthen 
partnership working across the water at this point.

 Developing the council’s working with creative organisations and making 
the case for funding to support local cultural commissions.

Page 32



3

 Looking for help from the TEPC to develop the area’s identify through 
culture, recognising the strength of the Gravesham’s diversity and 
heritage.

 Aim to develop additional cultural work and production spaces.

 Support the development of creative skills, jobs and apprenticeships, 
especially within the creative and digital sector in Gravesham.

2.3 Creative industry1 enterprises make up 8.1% of businesses (310 businesses) in 
Gravesham and there has been 41% growth over the last 5 years (2013-2018). 
This was the second highest rate of growth for a district across the County and is 
a higher rate of growth than growth in Kent and Great Britain which has been 
around 30% over the same period (Source: UK Business Counts).  98% of these 
are micro businesses (<10 employees), which is not unusual given the 
contribution that micro businesses make to employment within the local economy.

2.4 Officers are working to develop a cultural strategy for Gravesham and the delivery 
of the Thames Estuary Production Corridor will both inform and help to bring 
additional momentum behind its delivery.

3. Creative People & Places

3.1 Arts Council England has announced a further round of funding for a programme 
called Creative People and Places.  Its objective is to invest in communities where 
there are lower levels of engagement in arts and culture.  Applications for this 
funding are to be led by local consortia, not including local authorities, and the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation has indicated its wish to lead a bid for this 
area focused on the Ebbsfleet Valley area and neighbouring communities.

3.2 Workshops are currently taking place with local arts organisations and community 
groups locally with the intent of confirming consortia members and submitting a 
bid by 21 March 2019.

3.3 If successful, this bid will be looking to increase engagement in culture locally and 
this will complement the activity to be delivered through the Thames Estuary 
Production Corridor. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 Thames Estuary Production Corridor – A Framework for Kent and greater Essex, 
Emma Wilcox Associates, July 2018 Thames Estuary Production Corridor – A 
Framework for Kent and greater Essex, Emma Wilcox Associates, July 2018.  
This can be accessed at Thames Gateway Production Corridor vision 
https://www.southeastlep.com/government-awards-4-3m-to-develop-the-thames-
estuary-production-corridor-putting-the-creative-industries-at-the-heart-of-the-
estuarys-industrial-strategy/

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

1 Advertising & Marketing, Architecture, Crafts, Design, product, graphic & fashion design, Film, TV, video, 
radio & photography, IT, software & computer services, Publishing, Museums, Galleries & libraries, Music, 
performing & visual arts.

Page 33

https://www.southeastlep.com/government-awards-4-3m-to-develop-the-thames-estuary-production-corridor-putting-the-creative-industries-at-the-heart-of-the-estuarys-industrial-strategy/
https://www.southeastlep.com/government-awards-4-3m-to-develop-the-thames-estuary-production-corridor-putting-the-creative-industries-at-the-heart-of-the-estuarys-industrial-strategy/
https://www.southeastlep.com/government-awards-4-3m-to-develop-the-thames-estuary-production-corridor-putting-the-creative-industries-at-the-heart-of-the-estuarys-industrial-strategy/


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal No direct implications at this stage.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

No direct implications from the Cultural Development Fund to the council at this 
stage.
The council has been asked to contribute to the bid developmen of the Creative 
People and Places Fund to the sum of £3,000.  This has been found from arts 
development budgets.

Risk 
Assessment

No direct implications at this stage.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes as the aim of this funding will be to invoplve all communities in the dleivery 
of projects.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Objective 2: Stronger Gravesham

Crime and 
Disorder

No direct implications at this stage.

Digital and 
website 
implications

No direct implications at this stage.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

No direct implications at this stage.

Page 34


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2018-19 (October - December)
	2. Community Services Committee - Q3 2018-19 Performance Report  -Appendix 2.pdf
	Q3 2018-19


	7 Heritage Property Assets
	CS Cabinet Committee 7 Feb 2019 - Heritage Property Assets - Appendix 2

	8 Cultural Development Fund



